2003

Kalynn Ninnow v. Grand Staircase Land Company, a utah corporation, Willam Lowe and Augusta Rose : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Transfer from the Utah Supreme Court under UCA Sec. 78-2a-3(2)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Was it error to conclude a TRO had not dissolved at the time stated?

Standard of Review: Determining the availability of injunctive relief such as a TRO presents a question of law as to which no deference is given to trial court. Alta v. Ben Hame Corp., 836 P.2d 797, 804 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

Where Preserved: Memorandum, R. 568.

2. Was it error to adjudge that Gary Pahl owned 6000 shares of stock in Pahl's Salt Palace Loan Office, Inc., at his death, instead of 3000 shares?

Standard of Review: "In reviewing a trial court's grant of summary judgment, we give no deference to its conclusions of law." "When we review a grant of summary judgment, we review the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Dick Simon Trucking, Inc., v. State Tax Commission, 2004 UT 11.

Where Preserved: Memorandum, R. 806; Motion to Strike, R. 813.

RULES WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE

URCP 65A(a)(2) [saving certain "rights . . . to trial by jury"] [Addendum]

URE 1008 [document dispute "functions of court and jury"] [Addendum]

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of an interlocutory order of contempt [R. 945] and of the final order of summary judgment [R. 1114-1116] in a probate proceeding.

In the order of contempt [R. 945], Judge Tyrone Medley concluded that William Lowe had violated a TRO by transferring \$7500 in corporate funds [R. 1114-1116], even though Mr. Lowe had pursued the strategy of waiting until the TRO had dissolved before taking any action to transfer those funds. [Affidavit of KaLynn Ninow, R. 523, Par. 3-4] And in the summary judgment [R. 1114-1116], Judge Medley ruled that all 6000 shares of a corporation were owned by Gary Pahl when he died on June 25, 2000, even though 3000 shares were transferred from Frank Pahl to Mr. Lowe on May 6, 1998, [R. 271] he held the 3000 shares until a transfer to Robert Mortensen and Augusta Rose on September 2, 2000, [R. 425] and facts and reasonable inferences related to Mr. Lowe's claim to the 3000 shares must all be viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Lowe. The parties to this appeal are the appellee KaLynn Ninow, who is the divorced ex-wife of the decedent Gary Pahl who sought and accepted appointment as personal representative and submitted herself to the jurisdiction of the court in any proceeding related to the estate [R. 20] and who then later commenced this probate proceeding for

a formal order that all 6000 shares were in the estate. [R. 111-114] Appellants Augusta Rose and William Lowe were the only two surviving directors when Gary Pahl died on June 25, 2000. [R. 206] Appellant Grand Staircase Land Company, in an arms-length transaction for cash that factored-in a substantial [but mutually agreeable] litigation discount factor based on the fact that KaLynn was in the process of challenging the pre-death appointment of William Lowe and Augusta Rose as corporate directors, duly acquired the 3000 shares from Augusta Rose and Robert Mortensen. [R. 807 and 817]

FACTS - THE CORPORATION

1. Pahl's Salt Palace Loan Office, Inc., ("the corporation") [which is not a party to this proceeding], is a Utah corporation in the business of making loans on personal property and selling same after default. [R. 361]

2. Pahl's Salt Palace Loan Office, Inc., is also the sole surviving partner in a partnership that owns the land and buildings at 1588 and 1594 South State Street in Salt Lake City where the pawn business is conducted. [R. 387, Par. 54; R. 388, Par. 56; R. 390, Par 63-64; R. 392-393, Par. 69]

3. Pahl's Salt Palace Loan Office, Inc., has sole authority to manage that partnership [which is not a party to this proceeding], because it is the sole-surviving partner that has continued the partnership's business. The

estates of deceased partners have money claims, but no management rights.

[R. 387, Par. 54; R. 388, Par. 56; R. 390, Par 63-64; R. 392-393, Par. 69]

4. On January 19, 1999, Gary Pahl, who held 3000 shares, and William Lowe, who held the other 3000 shares, elected the following-three member Board of Directors of Pahl's Salt Palace Loan Office, Inc.: Gary Pahl [who was the divorced ex-husband of appellee KaLynn Ninow], William Lowe [a Pahl family member by marriage], and Augusta Rose [the close intimate and personal friend of Gary Pahl]. [R. 206] After Gary Pahl's death on June 25, 2000, KaLynn Ninow secured appointment as the personal representative in 2000 and initiated this proceeding [R. 111-114] in May of 2002, challenging the January 19, 1999, election of William Lowe and Augusta Rose to the Board of Directors [even though it was duly reflected in the filings by Gary Pahl with the Utah Division of Corporations]. [R. 206] She claims that, as a shareholder of only 3000 shares (50%), Gary Pahl could not unilaterally elect new directors [for want of a quorum] and that Frank Pahl [and not William Lowe] had the right to vote the other 3000 shares [even though Frank Pahl had transferred the 3000 shares to William Lowe on May 6, 1998, and Mr. Lowe held those certificates in 1999]. [R. 271] As her controlling contention, Ms. Ninow contended: "Simply stated, the appointment of Lowe and Rose

violated the bylaws of the corporation and were not authorized by the existing shareholders” and that “(i)f they were never legitimately directors of the corporation, then they had no authority to take the actions outlined in the minutes of their meetings . . .” and that “their decision to appoint Gary’s friend Robert Mortensen as a director following Gary’s death is also unauthorized and should be set aside.” [R. 484] In response, appellants contended that because Frank Pahl had transferred 3000 shares to William Lowe on May 6, 1998, [R. 271] and Mr. Lowe held 3000 shares on January 19, 1999, he and Gary Pahl could lawfully elect new directors, since they could convene a shareholder quorum, and that the 3000 shares held by Mr. Lowe were still held by Mr. Lowe when Gary Pahl died on June 25, 2000, with the other 3000 shares in Gary Pahl’s estate. [R. 417, 600-601, 718-725]

FACTS - THE 3000 SHARES HELD BY WILLIAM LOWE

5. The 3000 shares held by William Lowe when Gary Pahl died on June 25, 2000, were originally owned by Frank Pahl, one of the original founders who is currently a board member. [R. 271; Appellants’ Brief at 23]

6. On May 6, 1998, Frank Pahl transferred the certificates for the 3000 shares to William Lowe [R. 271], who held them until after Gary Pahl’s death and whose duties regarding the shares that he held underwent changes over

time as a result of various agreements, events, corporate actions, and share transfers. William Lowe continuously held the 3000 shares from the time they were transferred to him by Frank Pahl on May 6, 1998, [R. 271] until the time Mr. Lowe transferred them to Augusta Rose and Robert Mortensen on September 2, 2000, with complete and formal board approval. [R. 425]

7. The following agreements and transfers defined William Lowe's evolving duties prior to Gary Pahl's death regarding the 3000 shares he held: On May 6, 1998, Gary Pahl agreed to make payments to Frank Pahl for the shares that had been transferred to William Lowe and agreed that once this agreement to pay for the shares had been successfully completed, the shares held by William Lowe would belong to Gary Pahl. [R. 271] On December 28, 1998, Gary Pahl and William Lowe executed a superseding agreement that, "upon successful completion" of the May 6, 1998, agreement, the 3000 shares being held by William Lowe would "belong to the treasury of the Corporation, leaving a balance of 3,000 common shares outstanding." [R. 421] Once the May 6, 1998, agreement [R. 271] was successfully completed by payment in-full to Frank Pahl before Gary Pahl died, [R. 264] Gary Pahl transferred all of his rights and interest in the 3000 shares held by William Lowe into the corporation's treasury, doing all things necessary to effect and

document that transfer in corporate records maintained at 1588 and 1594 South State Street, and updated the corporation's shareholders list to reflect this transfer of 3000 the shares, facts known to William Lowe [R. 718] and Augusta Rose [R. 722], but of which Frank Pahl had no knowledge. [R. 637]

FACTS - THIS PROCEEDING

8. On March 18, 2002, KaLynn Ninow made a request to inspect the shareholder list of the corporation. [R. 343] A copy of that list was promptly provided to her on March 19, 2002. [R. 343] It showed she owned 3000 shares as personal representative [the 3000 shares listed for Gary Pahl's heir, subject to her probate claims and administration]. [R. 359] The list also showed the 1500 shares then owned by Robert Mortensen and the 1500 shares then owned by Augusta Rose. [R. 359] KaLynn Ninow decided the list was wrong and, on May 15, 2002, attempted to unilaterally vote-in new directors by claiming to be able to do so as the shareholder of all 6000 shares. [R. 210-211] The corporation duly rejected this vote pursuant to its express authority to do so under UCA Sec. 16-10a-724(6), because, *inter alia*, (1) it was contrary to the corporation's official shareholder list; and, (2) because, with only her 3000 shares, KaLynn Ninow could not unilaterally convene any quorum of shareholders or unilaterally conduct any shareholder business. See

affidavits of William Lowe and Augusta Rose at R. 718-725. No court of competent jurisdiction has ever ruled otherwise in a case or proceeding to which Pahl's Salt Palace Loan Office, Inc., was a party. [R. 718 - 725]

9. On or about May 20 or 21, 2002, KaLynn Ninow commenced this proceeding by filing an *ex parte* petition for a temporary restraining order to temporarily restrain William Lowe, Augusta Rose, and Robert Mortensen from, *inter alia*, accessing corporate records, papers, and documents. [The uncertainty about the date arises because the case file shows that the *ex parte* petition for a temporary restraining order was filed on May 21, 2002, but no TRO with a date stamp appears in the file. A copy of an alleged TRO does appear later in the record [R. 515-517] as an addendum to KaLynn Ninow's affidavit, but it does not contain a date stamp and was purportedly signed by Judge Sandra Peuler on May 20, 2002. [R. 517] Inexplicably, Judge Peuler did not restrain all sides from access to the corporate records, papers, and documents until a hearing could be held in which all sides participated. [R. 515-517] Instead, she entered an *ex parte* TRO that restrained only the members of the Board of Directors from accessing the pawnshop and the records, papers, and documents stored there, while leaving KaLynn Ninow and her confederates with free and unsupervised access to the pawnshop and

the records, papers, and documents stored there, [R. 515-517] which they took advantage of by entering the pawnshop and accessing the records, papers, and documents without court or Board of Directors supervision.

[“And the state of the pawn shop (sic.) as it existed demonstrates that these pawn records . . . were laying scattered over the counters.”] [“There’s very strong evidence that corporate records have been destroyed.”] [Admissions by attorney for KaLynn Ninow, Preliminary Injunction Hearing, May 31, 2002, at T. 42, first full paragraph; T. 51, first paragraph/first full paragraph.]

10. William Lowe waited until the TRO dissolved at 11:00 a.m. on May 30, 2002, and at 12:12 p.m. transferred \$7500 from a bank account used in connection with the corporation’s activities as the partner in the land and building owning partnership. [Affidavit of KaLynn Ninow, R. 523, Par. 3-4]

11. On September 5, 2002, Judge Medley concluded that William Lowe had violated Judge Peuler’s TRO by making this transfer, held him in contempt of court for violating the TRO, and ordered him to pay \$7500 plus attorney fees and costs to KaLynn Ninow, which he timely did. [R. 945]

12. On May 1, 2003, Judge Medley entered summary judgment that Gary Pahl owned all 6000 outstanding shares at death. [R. 1114-1116] A notice of appeal was thereafter timely filed May 23, 2003. [R. 1147-1148]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Since KaLynn Ninow admitted “(t)here’s very strong evidence that corporate records have been destroyed” [Admission by attorney for KaLynn Ninow, Preliminary Injunction Hearing, May 31, 2002, T. 51, first paragraph and first full paragraph], it was error to grant summary judgment, because a dispute over the existence of and the contents of missing records is something that is specifically reserved for the jury and cannot be placed before the court by way of KaLynn Ninow’s summary judgment affidavit. See URE 1008.

2. Since the TRO dissolved at 11:00 a.m., May 30, 2002, it was error to hold William Lowe in contempt of court for his conduct shortly after that.

3. Since Frank Pahl transferred the certificates for his 3000 shares to William Lowe on May 6, 1998, and Mr. Lowe still held them on January 19, 1999, he and Gary Pahl [who held the other 3000 shares] could jointly elect Gary Pahl, Augusta Rose, and William Lowe as the Board of Directors, and Mr. Lowe still held them when Gary Pahl died, based on facts and reasonable inferences that must all be viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Lowe.

4. KaLynn Ninow’s argument that Gary Pahl could not unilaterally elect any new directors on January 19, 1999, with only his 3000 shares [for lack of a quorum] supports the rejection of her own May 15, 2002, attempt.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

The May 1, 2003, order was final and appealable. Any additional real estate issues KaLynn Ninow wishes to litigate in this probate cannot be litigated in this proceeding and must be litigated in a new separate proceeding independent of this proceeding under UCA Sec. 75-3-106.

The trial court's May 1, 2003, "Order Granting Summary Judgment" [R. 1114-1116] was timely appealed via a Notice of Appeal filed on May 23, 2003 [R. 1147-1148]. In pre-briefing motion practice, the Utah Court of Appeals ruled as follows: [1] the trial court's interlocutory order of contempt against William Lowe had been timely appealed by Mr. Lowe by properly waiting to appeal until it appeared that a final order had been entered; and, [2] the parties, in their appellate briefs, should address the issue of whether the May 1, 2003, summary judgment order was final and appealable order. [Appellate Docket, October 28, 2003, Defer for Plenary Consideration Order]

Appellants contend that this appeal is from a final and appealable order. KaLynn Ninow contends that the Order Granting Summary Judgment entered on May 1, 2003, is not a final and appealable order because there are real estate issues that she still wishes to litigate in this proceeding that she

claims were not resolved by that grant of summary judgment. [Appellate Docket, June 4, 2003, Response to Motion for Summary Disposition]

KaLynn Ninow filed her “Motion for Summary Judgment” in the trial court on July 26, 2002. [R. 683-685] That motion for summary judgment is not styled as a motion for “partial” summary judgment, nor does it indicate in its text that any real estate issues are being reserved for future consideration. [R. 683-685] Indeed, the “Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment” [R. 686-705] states “the present motion and memorandum are directed at protecting Ryan’s interests in the Loan Office and the real estate mentioned above” [R. 687] [emphasis added] and does not reserve any real estate issues for future consideration beyond that summary judgment motion.

The May 1, 2003, order grants KaLynn Ninow’s Motion for Summary Judgment. [Order Granting Summary Judgment, May 1, 2003, R. 1114-1116]

That order does not indicate in its heading or in its text that it is a grant of “partial” summary judgment, neither does it indicate that real estate issues are being reserved for future trial court litigation and decision. [R. 1114-1116]

From and after May 1, 2003, KaLynn Ninow has made no discernible effort to litigate any real estate issues as part of this proceeding and has not pursued discovery or filed motions in this proceeding on real estate issues

since that date through the present. [R. 1114- 1390] Nor did she make any discernible effort to litigate such issues from and after the time she filed her petition initiating this probate proceeding on May 21, 2002. [R. 111-114]

KaLynn Ninow argued that determination of an alleged issue regarding ownership of shares of stock in Pahl's Salt Palace Loan Office, Inc., ["the Loan Office"] via a summary judgment would resolve virtually every other issue pled below: "Resolution by this Court of one crucial issue will resolve virtually every secondary petition and frivolous filing aimed at creating a smokescreen and confusing the real issues in this case. The issue is **whether or not Gary G. Pahl owned 6,000 shares of stock in Pahl's Salt Palace Loan Office, Inc., when he passed away on June 25, 2000.** This issue is ripe for determination on summary judgment." [R. 698] [emphasis in original]

The following summarizes relevant filings leading to the final order:

May 21, 2002 - KaLynn Ninow initiates this formal proceeding within an informal probate by filing an *ex parte* petition. [R. 111-114]

July 11, 2002 - Augusta Rose files her Answer, Counterpetition, Third Party Petition, and Demand for Jury Trial. [Ryan Pahl and Does I - V are named as the third-party respondents. Richard Ninow is not named as a third-party respondents in this pleading.] [R. 643-649]

July 26, 2002 - KaLynn Ninow files her Motion for Summary Judgment and a supporting memorandum [R. 683-705] that are both expressly “directed at protecting Ryan’s interests in the Loan Office and the real estate mentioned above.” [R. 687] [emphasis added]

August 1, 2002 - KaLynn Ninow, in her capacity as the personal representative and as the court-appointed guardian and conservator for Ryan Pahl, files a motion to dismiss under URCP 12. [R. 755-757]

September 17, 2002 - Augusta Rose, pursuant to URCP 15, amends her pleading as “once as matter of course” and files an Amended Counterpetition, Third Party Petition, and Demand for Jury Trial. [Richard Ninow is named for the first time together with Ryan Pahl and KaLynn Ninow as a third-party respondent. Richard Ninow was not previously a named party to this proceeding.] [R. 984-990]

September 19, 2002 - A deputy constable personally serves Richard Ninow with a Summons and the Amended Counterpetition, Third Party Petition, and Demand for Jury Trial. [R. 1011-1012]

October 23, 2002 - Default Certificate entered as to Richard Ninow. [R. 1060-1061] [The URCP 56 motion for summary judgment filed July 26, 2002, and the URCP 12 motion to dismiss filed August 1,

2002, were not URCP 7 “pleadings” that cutoff Augusta Rose’s right to amend “once as a matter of course” under URCP 15. A “motion” is not the same as a “pleading” and the failure to draw this distinction in word usage is sometimes encountered in court when “pleadings” is not correctly used as a term of art and is incorrectly applied to court filings that are not pleadings. The failure to draw such a distinction is directly contrary to controlling authority. Heritage Bank & Trust v. Landon, 770 P.2d 1009 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (A motion to dismiss is not a responsive “pleading” that would preclude an opponent from amending a prior pleading “once as a matter of course” pursuant to URCP 15.)]

February 6, 2003 - A Default Judgment is entered in favor of Augusta Rose and against Richard Ninow finding that Richard Ninow is violating or has violated the provisions of Part 9 of Title 76 of the Utah Code and which permanently enjoins Richard Ninow from a continuance thereof, and which awards Augusta Rose \$766.00 in costs and attorney fees under UCA Sec. 76-9-406. [R. 1078-1079]

February 20, 2003 - A Withdrawal of Unadjudicated Probate Petitions and Motions is filed in the trial court. [R. 1084]

May 1, 2003 - Summary judgment is entered. [R. 1114-1116]

Based on the foregoing history, the May 1, 2003, Order Granting Summary Judgment [R. 1114-1116] was a final and appealable order. It was timely appealed on May 23, 2003. [R. 1147-1148] Further, on May 6, 2003, a URCP 60(b) motion to set aside was filed by Richard Ninow through the attorneys who represent both KaLynn Ninow and Richard Ninow. [R. 1132-1133] Such a URCP 60(b) motion may be properly filed only after a final and appealable order is entered. URCP 60(b) is identical to FRCP 60(b) and *Moore's Federal Practice 3rd*, Sec. 60.23, states: "The standard test for whether a judgment is 'final' for Rule 60(b) purposes is usually stated to be whether the judgment is sufficiently 'final' to be appealed." The attorneys for KaLynn Ninow and Richard Ninow should not be heard to argue on appeal that no final order was ever entered while also filing a Rule 60(b) motion to set aside an order that is required be "sufficiently 'final' to be appealed."

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