2003

Gary G. Pahl, Kalynn Ninow v. Grand Staircase
Land Company, William Lowe, Augusta Rose :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Lowe's argument in opposition to this substantive determination by the lower court is made for the first time on this appeal. In his Brief, Lowe contends that he and Gary Pahl executed a "superseding agreement" whereby the 3000 shares held by Lowe would "belong to the treasury of the Corporation" (Brief of Appellant p.6, ¶ 7.) This argument was not properly set forth in Lowe's opposition memorandum, (R. 817), or otherwise articulated in the court below. To offer facts before this Court that were not properly before the trial court when it decided the motion for summary judgment is an attempt to litigate the matter on appeal as opposed to reviewing the trial court's decision. Such an attempt is improper and should not be considered by the Court.

Furthermore, even if Lowe had offered the "superseding agreement" before the trial court, he did nothing to controvert Ninow's proof that such an agreement was not fulfilled and therefore never took effect. Thus, the trial court acted properly in granting Ninow's Motion for Summary Judgment and such action should be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD LOWE IN CONTEMPT.

Utah Civil Rule of Procedure 65A (b)(2) states in relevant part,

the temporary restraining order shall expire by its terms within such time after entry, not to exceed ten days, as the court fixes, unless within the time so fixed the order, for good cause shown, is extended for a like period or unless the party against whom the order is directed consents that it may be extended for a longer period. The reason for the extension shall be entered of record.

In a case strikingly similar to the case at bar, the Eleventh Circuit interpreted Rule 65A(b)(2). *See Levine v. COMCOA LTD.* 70 F.3d 1191 (11th Cir. 1995). In *Levine*, the Court a TRO on May 6, 1994 at 9:25 a.m. and therein notified the parties, among other things, that a preliminary injunction hearing would be held on May 16. *Id.* at 1192. The hearing was subsequently held over two days, on May 16 and 17. The district court judge heard argument from counsel and the testimony of several witnesses. *Id.* At the end of the hearing on May 17, the district court stated to the parties that “it was extending the 6 May temporary restraining order until the court ruled on the substantive motions by Defendants.” *Id.* While discussing whether the TRO had expired before the Preliminary Injunction Order was entered, the court reiterated that, as to the initial ten day period before the hearing, the mere act of “continuing the hearing into the second day constituted a for-cause extension of the initial 10 day period.” *Id.* at 1193, n.6. The court does not go into more detail concerning the expiration of the TRO due to the two-day hearing, but simply acknowledges the hearing’s continuance in and of itself as a valid for-cause extension of the TRO.

This reasoning is not foreign to Utah Courts. For example, in *Miller v. Martineau & Co., CPA*, 983 P.2d 1107, 1115 (Utah Ct. App. 1999), the Utah Court of Appeals indicated that strict compliance with Rule 65A's requirement that the reasons for extension of a temporary restraining order be entered in the record is not always required.

As another example, in *IKON Office Solutions, Inc. v. Crook*, 2000 UT App. 217, 6 P.3d 1143 (Utah 2000), the parties had stipulated to a temporary restraining order "until the [preliminary injunction] hearing." *Id.* at ¶15. The Court interpreted "until the hearing" to mean that the temporary restraining order did not "expire" until the hearing was over at "the end of the day." *Id.* This interpretation directly aligns with the reasoning employed by the lower court determining Lowe violated the temporary restraining order, as well as with decisions issued by other jurisdictions.

Furthermore, in *IKON*, supra, the Court of Appeals indicated that a temporary restraining order has one of two fates: if the preliminary injunction is granted, the temporary restraining order is deemed to have merged into the preliminary injunction. If the preliminary injunction is not granted, the temporary restraining order dissolves by its own terms. *IKON*, supra. This language indicates the intent by Utah's courts to effectuate a fluid, uninterrupted transition from a temporary restraining order to a preliminary injunction. Courts from other jurisdictions have noted similar doctrines. See, e.g., Emerson Electric Co v. Sherman, 502 N.E.2d 414, 418 (Ill App. 1986) ("It is clear that when the temporary restraining order is not dismissed before a hearing on the merits,

it becomes merged with the preliminary injunctions, if the plaintiff prevails.”); *Stocker Hinge Mfg. Co., v. Darnel Indus., Inc.*, 447 N.E.2d 288, 293 (Ill. 1983) (stating that the “purpose of a restraining order is to maintain the status quo while the court is hearing evidence to determine whether a preliminary injunction should issue.”).

In the present case, the parties were in court prior to the time the TRO was scheduled to expire. The hearing began at approximately 10:00 a.m. The fact that the court had to continue the hearing beyond 11:00 a.m. on May 30, 2002, operated as a good cause extension of the terms of the TRO.

To hold otherwise would invite judicial chaos. Accepting Lowe’s argument that as soon as the clock struck 11:00 a.m. he was free of all restrictions would undermine all confidence in the court’s ability to control litigants who are present and in the courtroom, to say nothing of confidence in protecting assets subjects to immediate and irreparable harm.

Imagine that this were a case of a TRO issued to halt the demolition of a historic building. According to Lowe, at the stroke of 11:00 a.m. on May 30, 2002, while the Court was hearing testimony, Lowe should have been free to quietly get up from the table, walk into the hallway and call his demolition crews on his cell phone and immediately destroy the structure. There would be nothing that the Court could do, and the motion for preliminary injunction would be moot, as the order would have expired and the object of the preliminary injunction destroyed and irrecoverable.

In the case at bar, Lowe walked out of the courtroom on recess, went to the credit union with his lawyer, withdrew corporate funds to which he was not entitled and was ordered not to access, and gave the funds to his counsel. To adopt Lowe's interpretation and arguments in this case would undermine judicial confidence and defeat the very purpose of the rules regarding the issuance and viability of temporary restraining orders.

This result is consistent with the court's statement that "[t]he purpose of a TRO is to maintain the status quo while the court is hearing evidence to determine whether a preliminary injunction should issue." *Stocker Hinge Manufacturing Co. v. Darnel Industries, Inc.*, 447 N.E.2d 288, 293 (Ill. 1983).

Rule 65A(b)(3) regarding priority of hearings states that: "If a temporary restraining order is granted, the motion for a preliminary injunction shall be scheduled for hearing at the earliest possible time and takes precedence over all other civil matters except older matters of the same character..." The reasoning behind the rule is to get parties before the court as quickly as possible so as to allow for a hearing on the merits of the motion prior to its expiration. Despite the court's best efforts, it simply is not possible in all circumstances, as in this circumstance, to hold the entire preliminary injunction hearing prior to the technical expiration of the TRO. Courts commonly hold such hearings over several days.

The reasoning in *Levine* is sound and appropriately enforced by this Court. When prior to the expiration of a TRO, the parties are in court and engaged in a hearing to

continue the provisions of a TRO, the continuance of the hearing beyond the time set for expiration operates as a “good cause” extension of the TRO until the conclusion of the hearing or further ruling of the court.

A. Even If The Trial Court’s Finding Of Contempt Was Incorrect, Such Error Was Harmless.

Harmless error is defined as an error that is sufficiently inconsequential that there is no reasonable likelihood that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings. *Covey v. Covey*, 2003 UT App 380, ¶21 (citing *Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch.*, 817 P.2d 789, 796 (Utah 1991)). Put in other words, an error is harmful only if the likelihood of a different outcome is sufficiently high as to undermine our confidence in the verdict. On appeal, the appellant has the burden of demonstrating an error was prejudicial - that there is a reasonable likelihood that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings. *Covey v. Covey*, 2003 UT App 380, ¶21 (citing *Steffensen v. Smith's Mgmt. Corp.*, 820 P.2d 482, 489 (Utah Ct.App. 1991, *aff'd*, 862 P.2d 1342 (Utah 1993))).

The ultimate outcome of these proceedings was that a preliminary injunction was issued and summary judgment was granted in favor of Ninow. (R. 1111.) It was also found that Gary Pahl was the owner of all 6,000 shares of stock of the Loan Office. Lowe would have had to repay the \$7,500 he inappropriately transferred from the Loan Office account, regardless of whether it was a result of the order of contempt or a consequence of the order granting summary judgment.

III. APPELLANT ONLY PARTIALLY APPEALED FROM A PROPER, APPEALABLE ORDER.

This Court has requested the parties to brief the issue of whether the appeal is taken from a final, appealable order, referring to that case entitled *In re Estate of Vorhees*, 366 P.2d 977, 980 (1961). *Vorhees* states, "The fact that the court retained jurisdiction . . . to adjudicate further matters did not leave open for consideration the [matter previously ruled upon]. There was nothing further to be decided on that particular issue That being so, the decree entered thereon was final and therefore appealable. *Id.* This language in *Vorhees* coincides to the language of other Utah cases specifically dealing with the issue of appeals from a probate proceeding.

Utah's law requires use of a pragmatic case-by-case approach in determining what constitutes a "final judgment" for purposes of appeal from a probate matter. *See In re Estate of Morrison*, 933 P.2d 1015, 1016-1017 (Utah Ct. App. 1997). The guiding standard is properly articulated as follows: for purposes of appeal from a probate matter, a "final judgment" is one that both "resolved an issue of vital importance" and "concluded a major phase" in the probate, or as stated by the *Vorehees* court, leaves "nothing further to be decided upon a particular issue." *Id.* *See also In re Estate of Christensen*, 655 P.2d 646, 648 (Utah 1982). The purpose in applying this standard is to prevent subsequent proceedings in the probate matter from going forward "under a cloud of uncertainty that would seriously impair the personal representative's efforts to administer the estate." *Id.*

Applying this standard to the instant circumstances, the default judgment from which Appellants first appealed does not constitute a "final judgment."

A. "Issue of vital importance."

While the parties were actively arguing over ownership of the Pawn Shop stock, on July 11, 2002, Appellant Augusta Rose filed a document entitled "Answer, Counter Petition, Third Party Petition and Demand for Jury Trial." R. at 643-649. As is evidenced by a simple review of the document, the Petition does not make any claims against the Estate or make any claims related to ownership of the Pawn Shop stock or of the real estate. Instead, the Petition asserted defamation claims against KaLynn Ninow, personally, her husband, Richard Ninow, and her son, Ryan Pahl. On August 1, 2003, Mr. Ninow not having been properly served, KaLynn Ninow and Ryan Pahl opposed Ms. Rose's petition, claiming the Probate Court lacked jurisdiction to hear the defamation claim. R. at 755-757. Nonetheless, on September 17, 2002, Appellant Augusta Rose filed an Amended Petition against the same parties, served the Petition upon Mr. Ninow. R. at 984-990. On January 13, 2003, Appellants filed a document entitled "URCP 41(c) Voluntary Partial Dismissal" dismissing the Amended Petition in its entirety against both Ryan Pahl and KaLynn Ninow, but leaving a single claim for statutory defamation remaining against Mr. Ninow. R. at 1074-1075. On or about February 8, 2003, Ms. Rose ultimately received a default judgment against Mr. Ninow in the amount of \$766.00 (hereinafter "the Default Judgment"). R. at 1078-1079. Lastly, on February 20, 2003,

Appellants filed a Withdrawal of Unadjudicated Probate Petitions and Motions, withdrawing "any and all probate petitions and motions filed in this probate by them, or any of them, which have not yet been adjudicated or ruled upon by the court." R. at 1084-1085.

The Default Judgment alleged that Richard Ninow defamed Augusta Rose. This alleged defamation was completely unrelated to the settling of Gary Pahl's estate, and can therefore hardly be considered an "issue of vital importance" in a probate matter. Furthermore, the mere \$766.00 awarded to Ms. Rose via the Default Judgment further underscores just how unimportant the Default Judgment is in a probate matter where the probate estate values exceeds \$350,000.00.

B. "Concluded a Major Phase."

Furthermore, the Default Judgment did not conclude a "major phase" in the probate litigation. The two prevalent issues related to settling of the Estate are ownership to the shares of stock of the Pawn Shop and ownership to certain real property, including the property from which the Pawn Shop conducts business. The Probate Court resolved the stock ownership issue by its August 26, 2002 determination that Ryan Pahl is the beneficial owner of all outstanding stock in the Pawn Shop. Issues related to ownership of the real property upon which the business is operated remain wholly unresolved. Entry of the Default Judgment did not conclude either of these "phases" of the probate. In fact, the Petition underlying the Default Judgment may more properly be characterized as

starting a new phase of litigation, as the defamation allegations were entirely new claims unrelated to any issues previously considered in the proceeding and was not asserted against the Estate or its representative.

In addition, Appellant's February 20, 2003 "Withdrawal of Unadjudicated Motions" renders questionable the "finality" of the default judgment. If, as asserted by Appellant in other filings before this Court, the Default Judgment resolved all outstanding issues involving the Appellants, then how could unadjudicated issues be left to withdraw?

In short, if a judgment has been entered in the Probate Proceeding that both resolves an "issue of vital importance" and "concludes a major phase" in the litigation, the default judgment is NOT that judgment. Having failed to appeal from a "final judgment" this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear the first appeal. See Utah R. App. P. 3.

However, subsequent to the initial appeal, Lowe filed a what he labeled a companion appeal, which was initially numbered 20030458. That case appealed from the lower court's entry of the May 1, 2003 Order officially granting the Summary Judgment which it had previously articulated by bench ruling in August of 2003. R. at 1114-16. Appellant does not now and has never denied that the summary judgment order is properly appealed from, that Order having resolved one of the two major issues in the probate litigation – ownership of the shares of Pahl's Pawn Shop.

That leaves only the question of the timeliness of the appeal of the Order of Contempt finding Lowe in contempt of court for violating the terms of the TRO. It can

hardly be said in any setting, let alone a probate setting, that a proceeding for contempt for violation of an order can be said to comprise a major phase in the litigation or an issue of vital importance, as contempt, by its very nature, is nearly always a secondary issue related to a counsel or parties' violation of an order already entered on issues already determined. Thus, under *Vorhees*, once Lowe was found to be in contempt, there was nothing further to be determined on that issue, i.e., there are no further proceedings to be had related to whether the discrete act of removing money from the credit union was or was not proper. Accordingly, under *Vorhees*, the order finding Lowe in contempt of court are "final and therefore appealable." Utah law specific to civil contempt issues concurs in this result. *See Von Hake v. Thomas*, 759 p.2d 1152, 1157 fn. 3 (Utah 1988) (holding that the entry of The civil contempt order was issued on September 5, 2002. As a final appealable order, the Rules of Appellate Procedure require appeal within thirty (30) days. See Utah R. App. P. 4. Accordingly, the appeal of the civil contempt Order, whether considered to be the appeal from the default judgment on filed in February 27, 2003 or from the formal appeal of Summary Judgment on May 23, 2003, is untimely and cannot be considered by this Court.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, Ninow respectfully requests that the actions of the trial court be affirmed.